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LICENSEE; 


The inspeclio" was an eaaMinalion of trle aCtivilieli conducted under yOl.l' Ileel\Se as &;ley rQlate ttl radialiOft SQ~lY and to compliance with the NLidear 
Resulatcry Commission (NRC) rules and reguladons and me condltlons of your lanse. The insDGdion oonsisted of selective elll8Minallons of 
procedures an~ representative recDRSS. IMel'lllews with personnel. and COSllrVations by the InspEdor. TI\e insplilGtion findings are as follOWS: 

I ] 1. 	 eased on the inspection findings. no \/IolQtions were identifiad. 

o 2. Previous viOlation(s) closed. 

3. The lIIoIatlon(s). spec:i1Ically desc:ribGd to you by the inspector as I'IOII-cited violations. arc not being cited becau~ thay \o\I9l'e salf·n identified. n.on-repetltive. and corrective action was Ot is being taken, and the rem31T1ing crtrflrla In. the NRC t:nforcement Polley, to 
exerciSe discretion, wetG satisfied. 

Non-cited ViOIatlon(s) were discussed InvcMft!; the following requirement(s) and corrective action(s): 

4. 	Ol,lllng this inspedol'l. certain of your activities, as describitl below and/or attaclled'. were In violation of NptC requirements lind are being 
cited in aa:orclanee wi'" the NRC enfCrGQment Poli~. This fOIm is a NOTiCe OF VIOLATiON. INt\lch may be 5ubjecr to PO&ting in 
aCCOrdance IMth to CFR 19,11. (Vjolatons and Corrective Ac'dons) 

10 CFR 35.61(8) '6ClloIIru. in part. Nt a icensea ealibraM 4UNey itls'lnolmonts used to show oompliance wittl10 CFR Pl1rts 20 and 
35 ahnwlly. CcntJary to 1he above. as of.june 4,2012. the licensee had not calibrated a suNey inslNment used to show 
c;ompliance wttrI 10 CFR Parts 20 and 35 annually. Specifically, the survey meter was due for calibration on April 9, 2012. 
however, the licensee did not sel'ld the mIMer cut ro, ~Ibralion because 1heir olhflr meter welS c;urrentiy being CialIbrated. For 
eorrective aCliofls, ~e Iicel"l'S:e& (1) committed to contacting 1M seNice provider to verify \tie calibration status of tie 6r.;t meIer and 
(2) they QQnfinned ttrsl the second meter wnuld be sent out for calibration 3S SOG/\ ll$ ltIe lin;t one was returned. 

Statement of Corrective Actions 
I hereby statt!) that wllhln 30 days. the actions desCl'ibed by me to the inSPector Will be tal<en to correct the violations identified. This statement of 
corrective actions Is made 11'1 aCCOrdance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corredive stet~S alntady taken. correCUve steJ)5 WIliOh will be talc.l!f'I. 
elate when full c:ornptinnce Will be achieved). I undalStlnd that no tvnnar v.ritten respcl'lGa to NRO Win be reoulrQd, unless liO~ficalJr requested. 

____1I.tl. Prtnted Nam, 	 O*' 
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